
 
 

 

Meeting Minutes | Page 1 

 

Village of Homewood 

Planning and Zoning Commission 

Thursday, July 11, 2019 

7:30 p.m. 

 

Village Hall Board Room 

2020 Chestnut Road 

Homewood, IL 60430 

 

 

CALL TO ORDER:  Chairman Sierzega called the meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission 
to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL:  Members Bransky, O’Brien, Planera, Johnson, and Chairman Sierzega were in 
attendance. Members Alfonso and Cap were absent. Present from the Village was Economic and 
Community Development Director Angela Mesaros. There were 8 people in the audience. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  Chairman Sierzega asked if there were any corrections or changes to 
the minutes of June 13, 2019. There being no changes or corrections a motion was made by Member 
Planera to approve the minutes of June 13, 2019; seconded by Member O’Brien. 
 
AYES:  Members Bransky, O’Brien, Planera, Johnson and Chairman Sierzega 
NAYS:  None 
ABSTENTIONS:  Members Alfonso and Cap  
ABSENT:  None 
Motion passed. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – CASE NO. 19-13, Site Plan Approval for a yard gate addition at 
Menards at 17545 S. Halsted Street:  
 
Chairman Sierzega stated that the petitioner is requesting site plan approval for an express lane into 
the rear yard at 17545 Halsted Street, and asked if that was correct. Mr. Edwards stated that it was 
correct. Chairman Sierzega stated that according to the Village Fire Department and the building 
inspector the petitioner had to revise some items and asked if the items have been completed. Staff 
Liaison Mesaros stated that they have all been addressed. 
 
Chairman Sierzega sworn in Tyler Edwards, real estate representative representing Menard, Inc. 
5101 Menard Drive, Eau Claire, WI. 
 
Mr. Edwards stated that Menards remodeled the Homewood location 2-3 years ago to make the old 
stores consistent with the new stores. The automated yard gate request is the next step in the process. 
A customer can order online at Menards today and pick it up at the store, but pick-up would be inside 
the store. The new gate allows the customer to order online then drive up to a dedicated lane, scan 
the barcode, the materials will be ready; and the associate(s) load it for the customer. It is a 20 ft 
addition on the south side of the existing gate. All of the materials will match. A light pole and a fire 
hydrant will be relocated to the other side of the road. 
 
Chairman Sierzega asked if the fire hydrant and the light pole have been relocated already. Mr. 
Edwards stated not yet. They are waiting to get their building permits.  



 
 

 

Meeting Minutes | Page 2 

 
Member Johnson asked if there is a traffic light heading east and asked if traffic light will be 
changed. Mr. Edwards stated no, not to the signal and it shouldn’t impact the traffic to the store. 
The new process will expedite the pick-up process, which will lower the number of parked cars.  
 
Member O’Brien asked if the lane width will be 20 ft. Mr. Edwards stated correct. Member O’Brien 
stated that on the report given to the Commission there was a need for a separate third lane. This 
would mean 3 lanes at 20 ft per lane would equal 60 ft. Mr. Edwards stated that was correct. 
Member O’Brien asked if that is measured to the fence to the north or the south. Mr. Edwards 
stated that it is from curb on the north to the curb on the south.  
 
Member O’Brien stated that photometrics are required. Mr. Edwards stated that it would be the 
same pole, but located on the other side of the street.  
 
Member Planera asked if the 20ft width leaves a 10 or 12 ft lane. Mr. Edwards stated yes, it will give 
a little bit of extra room for people to get out of their cars to latch items down. Member Planera 
asked where the transplanted or newly planted landscape might go. Mr. Edwards stated that the plan 
is to keep it as close to that area as possible. They can add new landscaping by the fire hydrant and 
light pole.  
 
Member Bransky had no questions.  
 
Motion was made by Member O’Brien to recommend approval of Case 19-13 for a site plan for an 
express lane addition at the Homewood Menards store location, 17545 S. Halsted Street. On 
application by Tyler Edwards for Menard, Inc. in the B-4 Shopping Center zoning district; seconded 
by Member Planera.  
 
AYES:  Members Bransky, O’Brien, Planera, Johnson and Chairman Sierzega 
NAYS:  None 
ABSTENTIONS:  Members Alfonso and Cap  
ABSENT:  None 
Motion passed. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – CONTINUATION- CASE NO. 19-17, Special Use Permit and 
Parking Variance to operate a salon/spa at 18659 Dixie Highway, Ste. B:  
 
Chairman Sierzega stated that Case 19-17 is a continuation from the June 13, 2019 meeting. The 
petitioner, Amber Callahan owner of Her Mannerisms LLC is requesting a special use permit. 
Chairman Sierzega stated that the petitioner was previously sworn in and asked the petitioner to 
confirm that she has changed her request. Ms. Callahan stated yes. Chairman Sierzega stated that the 
petitioner’s previous request was for 10 nail stations and retail space and asked if the new request is 
for 2 chairs, manicure table, and 1 employee. Ms. Callahan stated yes. Chairman Sierzega stated that 
the petitioner has reduced her original request from 24 parking spaces to 5 spaces. Ms. Callahan stated 
that the request is correct. 
 
Ms. Callahan stated that she decided to cut the space in half and dedicated 80% to the retail products 
that they currently sell online. The services (nail and pedicure stations) will only be performed by the 
petitioner, at this time. If the business grows then they would move out of the space and into a location 
that can accommodate the required parking. 
 



 
 

 

Meeting Minutes | Page 3 

Chairman Sierzega asked if the petitioner feels that this new plan will work for the business. Ms. 
Callahan stated yes.  
 
Chairman Sierzega stated that if the request is approved and the petitioner disregards the special use 
in any way, the permit would be revoked. Ms. Callahan stated that she understood. 
 
Member Bransky had no questions.   
 
Member Planera asked if the petitioner marked up the drawings herself. Ms. Callahan stated yes. 
Member Planera stated that the plumbing drawing has been reduced by 2 chairs, but the drawing still 
shows the waste line at the original length to accommodate the original number of chairs. Ms. Callahan 
stated that a wall in the larger space separates two (2) pedicure chairs and two (2) manicure stations 
from the other half that would be retail.       
 
Member O’Brien stated that the count of the actual parking spaces, translates into the number that 
would be on the approval of the application; it would change the number of the variance. There are 5 
parking places on the Dixie Hwy side, on the west side, two (2) of those are handicap. There are four 
(4) parking places on the north side; one is in the immediate back by the alley, on the east side, with a 
No Parking sign. The owner did not clarify whether that is an actual parking space or something that 
is reserved. The three (3) parking places inside the area that is cut out of the building. And then further 
to the south, along the alley, there are four (4) diagonal parking spaces. On the south side of the 
building are eleven (11) spaces, including one (1) handicap. Member O’Brien asked Staff if that 
particular handicap parking space needs an additional space next to it-striped. When you add 4 and 5 
equals 9, plus 1 is 10, and 3 is 13 plus 4 is 17 plus 11 on the south; equals 28 spaces. In the 
Commission’s materials it indicates 23, so that would make a difference of 5. The question is how the 
Commission votes on the space that says No Parking and on the handicap stall. If a stripe is next to 
the stall for the handicap on the south side that would take away another parking stall. Member 
O’Brien counted 28 spaces. If one (1) is taken away for the “No Parking” and one (1) space for the 
striped requirement for the handicap that would leave 26 spaces. Member O’Brien requested assistance 
on figuring out what the Commission will be voting on. Chairman Sierzega stated that the handicap 
spot next to it would have to be striped. Member O’Brien stated that there is a handicap stall with a 
handicap symbol, but no striping, neither to the east nor the west. So that would take one (1) stall 
away. Member Planera stated that the right hand side would be striped.  
  
Chairman Sierzega asked if the petitioner has any information on the “No Parking” sign. Ms. Callahan 
stated that the “no parking” is for residents who have parked in that space seen people park in the 
parking. Member O’Brien stated that there are four (4) diagonal stalls immediately off the alley. 
Neighbors can park almost anywhere. Chairman Sierzega stated that the Commission should count it 
as a parking stall and disregard the sign. Plus, the landlord has to be notified that that one handicap 
space would need the space next to it striped. Ms. Callahan stated that handicap parking is for the 
chiropractor office, and is utilized for the doctor’s office. Due to this Ms. Callahan set her hours of 
operation to later in the day; 11:00 a.m to 8:00 p.m.  
 
Chairman Sierzega asked if Staff can contact the landlord and let them know about the one (1) 
handicap space and the No Parking sign. Staff Liaison Mesaros stated that she can contact the 
landowner.  
 
Member Planera stated that what needs to be determined is the amount of handicap spaces required. 
If the numbers are correct then there are really 27 spaces versus 23 spaces. Member O’Brien asked if 



 
 

 

Meeting Minutes | Page 4 

the motion would than change to 3 additional parking spaces and asked what that means for the 
variance.  
 
Member Johnson asked for clarification regarding the variance and asked if the motion needs to be 
changed. Member Bransky stated that the sixth bullet down from the Findings of Fact will get 
corrected. Staff Liaison Mesaros stated that the Findings of Fact would be corrected. Chairman 
Sierzega stated the sixth bullet will state 27, instead of 23. 
 
Member O’Brien requesting clarification regarding the last item in the Findings of Fact that requires 
a variance of 3 parking spaces. If the charts show 30 and the actual count is 27, then the difference is 
3. Staff Liaison Mesaros stated that Member O’Brien is correct and the variance would be for 3 spaces.                
 
Motion was made by Member Planera to recommend approval of Case 19-17 for a special use permit 
and a variance from Section 11.1 of the Homewood Zoning Ordinance to permit a spa that does not 
meet the parking requirements by 3 parking spaces on the property located at 18659 Suite B, Dixie 
Highway in the B-2 Community Business zoning district and incorporating the Findings and Fact, as 
corrected, into the record; seconded by Member O’Brien.  
 
AYES:  Members Bransky, O’Brien, Planera, Johnson and Chairman Sierzega 
NAYS:  None 
ABSTENTIONS:  Members Alfonso and Cap  
ABSENT:  None 
Motion passed. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING- CONTINUATION – CASE NO. 19-21. Special Use Permit to operate 
a nursing assistant training center at 18216 Harwood Avenue:  
 
Chairman Sierzega stated that Case 19-17 is a continuation from the June 13, 2019 meeting. The 
petitioner, Bisola Adeniran school administrator and instructor of Covenant Healthcare Institute, Inc 
is requesting a special use permit to operate a trade/business school at the property located at 18216 
Harwood Ave. 
 
Chairman Sierzega asked the petitioner to submit the new drawing of the space that will be utilized 
for the trade school.  
 
Chairman Sierzega asked the petitioner if they are currently located in the building. Mrs. Adeniran 
stated yes. 
 
Mrs. Adeniran stated that the business started as a home health agency and as an agency they already 
do the training. They applied with the State and are approved as a training center, so that they can 
charge fees for the training.  
 
Chairman Sierzega stated that they currently occupy 300 sq ft. and asked if that will remain the same 
or is it going to increase. Mrs. Adeniran stated that it will remain the same.  
 
Chairman Sierzega asked for the hours of operation. Mrs. Adeniran stated that evening classes begin 
at 5:00 p.m. and end by 10:00 p.m.; Monday, Wednesday, and Friday. Clinicals are off-site. Chairman 
Sierzega asked if the actual training will be done in the actual location. Mrs. Adeniran stated yes. 
Chairman Sierzega asked how many people she will be training at any given time. Mrs. Adeniran stated 



 
 

 

Meeting Minutes | Page 5 

currently 3-4 students, but she has capacity for 8-10 persons. She prefers 8 students, because it is easier 
to train. 
 
Chairman Sierzega asked Staff if there were any public comments. Staff Liaison Mesaros stated that 
she had one comment. A resident in the area expressed concern about parking, the hours, size of 
classes, traffic. Staff Liaison Mesaros asked the petitioner to address parking. Mrs. Adeniran stated 
that there is enough parking because the other tenants of the building operate during the morning 
hours. A chiropractor has hours 9:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. Other tenants work is mostly outside of the 
office.  
 
Member Johnson had no questions. 
 
Staff Liaison Mesaros asked the petitioner how many parking spaces they have. Member Planera stated 
that he counted 27 spaces. Staff Liaison Mesaros stated that would be more than enough.  
 
Member O’Brien asked if Covenant Healthcare is a tenant in the building. Mrs. Adeniran stated yes. 
Member O’Brien stated that he asked because there is a hand written note in the materials that the 
property has other tenants and the property belongs to me. Mrs. Adeniran stated that she is the owner of the 
building. Member O’Brien asked what size space has Covenant used since opening in 2016 and for 
what services. Mrs. Adeniran stated that they operated home health care workers went out to help the 
elderly. Due to the budget impasse in 2017, lack of funding affected the business. In order to diversify, 
they applied with the State to properly train CNAs at that location. This also allows for them to get 
paid, because at that time they were providing the services for free. Member O’Brien asked when the 
petitioner received their approval from the State. Mrs. Adeniran stated December 2017. Member 
O’Brien asked if they have been conducting training since receiving the approval. Mrs. Adeniran stated 
they have had trouble getting students because they do not have signage. They plan to up signage to 
obtain more students, and she has to start using the license or else it gets voided.  
 
Member O’Brien requested clarification regarding the hours of operation. The materials indicate that 
the hours are Monday-Friday from 5:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. However, earlier the petitioner stated 
different hours and days of operation. Mrs. Adeniran stated that it depends on her schedule and the 
students’ schedule. As the instructor she is required to submit her schedule to the State. Once the 
State approves her classes that will be her schedule. Training would always be in the evening. Member 
O’Brien asked what time she would close the office. Mrs. Adeniran stated that they would closed by 
10:00 p.m. 
 
Chairman Sierzega stated that the petitioner needs to adjust her hours from her original request; from 
5:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m. instead of 9:00 p.m.  
 
Member O’Brien requested clarification on the square footage of her current space. Mrs. Adeniran 
stated that Covenant used to occupy the entire space, but she has rented out the space. Member 
O’Brien stated that the petitioner indicates that there is a classroom that is 19 x 10, which equals 198 
sq. ft. and a clinical room that is 16 x 9, which equals 144 sq. ft. Between the 2 that equals 334 sq. ft., 
which is more than the 300 sq. ft that is being requested. That does not include the reception area. 
There is a dimension on the conference/sitting room of 16.9, and asked how reception area is included 
in the 300 sq. ft if the other two rooms are already 334 sq. ft. Mrs. Adeniran stated that the reception 
area is not included.  
 
Member Planera asked if the petitioner can hold up her drawing and walk the Commission through 
how the space will be used. Member Planera asked if the reception area is a common reception area 



 
 

 

Meeting Minutes | Page 6 

or the petitioner’s reception area. Member Bransky asked if the other tenants can use the reception 
area. Mrs. Adeniran stated yes.  
 
Chairman Sierzega swore in Teiwo Adeniran, 3218 Mallard Dr., Homewood. 
 
Mr. Adeniran stated that the common area is shared by all offices in the building. The conference area 
is also shared among the tenants. Member Planera asked if the tenants schedule the conference area. 
Mr. Adeniran stated yes and that the actual size for the area that will be used is 334 sq. ft.  
 
Member Bransky stated that the second bullet under the Findings of Fact should be revised. Staff 
Liaison Mesaros stated that would change to 334 sq. ft.  
  
Member Planera stated that it has been determined that the petitioner owns the building and owns 
Covenant Healthcare. Mrs. Adeniran stated yes. Member Planera asked if it is correct that the 
petitioner wants to expand into CNA training. Mrs. Adeniran stated yes. Member Planera requested 
confirmation that the petitioner is approved by the State. Mrs. Adeniran stated yes and she is a 
registered nurse.  
 
Member Bransky had no questions.  
 
Chairman Sierzega confirmed that bullet two of the Findings of Fact will reflect the change from 300 
sq. ft to 334 sq. ft. Staff Liaison Mesaros stated that the addition of “based on the drawing provided 
by the petitioner.”   
 
Member Johnson asked if the hours of operation need to be added to the Findings of Fact. Staff 
Liaison Mesaros stated that it will be placed in the Findings of Fact.  
 
Motion was made by Member Bransky to recommend approval of Case 19-21 for a special use permit 
for a trade/business school to operate a certified nursing assistant training center on application by 
Covenant Healthcare Institute, Inc. at 18216 Harwood Avenue, Ste. 1 N4 & N5. Modifying the second 
bullet under Findings of Fact to state 334 square feet and adding a bullet for hours of operation 5:00 
p.m. to 10:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. The Findings of Fact, as amended shall be included as 
part of the record and recommendation to the Village Board of Trustees; seconded by Member 
O’Brien.   
 
AYES:  Members Bransky, O’Brien, Planera, Johnson and Chairman Sierzega 
NAYS:  None 
ABSTENTIONS:  Members Alfonso and Cap  
ABSENT:  None 
Motion passed. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – CASE NO. 19-23, Variance to locate a parking space within the 
required front yard at 18524 Gladville Avenue:  
 
Chairman Sierzega gave a brief description of Case 19-23. The petitioner is requesting a variance from 
Section 11.4 of the Zoning Ordinance to locate a parking space in the required front yard at 18524 
Gladville Avenue; requested by Christina Deckelman. A legal notice was published in the Daily 
Southtown on 5/28/2019; letters sent to property occupants within 250 ft; no comments received. 
Documents in the Commission packet include a letter from petitioner dated 5/28/19, site plan with 



 
 

 

Meeting Minutes | Page 7 

proposed improvement highlighted; Plat of Survey (dated 11/10/1995). Staff Liaison Mesaros stated 
that she did not receive any comments.   
 
Chairman Sierzega swore in Christina Deckelman, 18524 Gladville Avenue, Homewood. 
 
Mrs. Deckelman stated that she is requesting to expand the driveway 9 ft. to the south to the property 
line. 
 
Chairman Sierzega asked if the reason is to park two cars next to each other on the driveway, plus one 
in the garage. Mrs. Deckelman stated yes.  
 
Chairman Sierzega stated that the zoning ordinance defines a parking space as an area, enclosed or 
unenclosed, which is at minimum nine (9) feet in width and eighteen (18) feet in depth, except for ADA. The 
definition of a driveway is any impervious surface providing direct ingress to and egress from a parking space. By 
the ordinance the petitioner needs a variance to add a parking space, in addition to the driveway. Mrs. 
Deckelman stated that that is correct.  
 
Chairman Sierzega asked how long the petitioner has lived in the house. Mrs. Deckelman stated 24 
years.  
 
Member Bransky requested clarification from Staff in regards to the petitioner only allowed to go to 
the property line. The parkway is not an option.  Staff Liaison Mesaros stated that in order to extend 
the drive all the way to the street the petitioner is required special permission from the Public Works 
Department. Chairman Sierzega stated that the petitioner would have to stop at the sidewalk. Member 
Bransky added that the Public Works Department would have to approve a curb cut.  
 
Member Bransky stated that the Commission did not receive official dated plat of survey. Staff Liaison 
Mesaros stated that she has the official dated plat and it matches what is in the materials.  
 
Member Planera stated that the curb cut is the depressed curb that actually meets the street and it 
flares outward towards the sidewalk. Mrs. Deckelman stated that that was correct.  
 
Member O’Brien had no questions. 
 
Member Planera asked if the space can accommodate 9 ft. Mrs. Deckelman stated yes.        
 
Chairman Sierzega stated that the petitioner may have to extend the width of the driveway, without 
going into the parkway.   
 
Motion was made by Member O’Brien to recommend approval of Case 19-23 for a zoning variance 
of Section 11.4 of the Homewood Zoning Ordinance to allow parking in the front yard by expanding 
the width of the driveway on the property located at 18524 Gladville Avenue and incorporating the 
Findings of Fact into the record; seconded by Member Planera.  
 
AYES:  Members Bransky, O’Brien, Planera, Johnson and Chairman Sierzega 
NAYS:  None 
ABSTENTIONS:  Members Alfonso and Cap  
ABSENT:  None 
Motion passed. 
 



 
 

 

Meeting Minutes | Page 8 

 
NEW BUSINESS:  None 
 
OLD BUSINESS:  None 
 
ADJOURNMENT: Member Bransky moved to adjourn the meeting at 8:48 p.m.; seconded by 
Member O’Brien.  Motion passed by voice vote. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Angela M. Mesaros 
Staff Liaison 


